# **Bank of Queensland Limited**

(ABN 32 009 656 740)

(Incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Australia)

# U.S.\$2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Arranger

# **UBS Investment Bank**

Dealers

ABN AMRO Deutsche Bank JPMorgan Nomura International

Barclays Capital HSBC Macquarie Bank Limited onal UBS Investment Bank Westpac Banking Corporation This Information Memorandum comprises a base prospectus for the purpose of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC (the "Prospectus Directive"), replaces and supersedes the Information Memorandum dated 15 December 2004 describing the Programme (as defined below). Any Notes (as defined below) issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Information Memorandum are issued subject to the provisions contained herein. This does not affect any Notes already issued.

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Information Memorandum (the "Programme"), Bank of Queensland Limited (ABN 32 009 656 740) (the "Issuer" or the "Bank"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the "Notes"). The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed U.S.\$2,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies) or such higher amount as may be agreed by the Issuer and the Dealers (as defined in "Subscription and Sale").

Notes will be issued in one or more series (each a "Series"). Each Series shall be in bearer form and may be issued in one or more tranches (each a "Tranche") on different issue dates. Notes of each Series will have the same maturity date, bear interest on the same basis and at the same rate and be issued on terms otherwise identical (except in relation to interest commencement dates and matters related thereto).

Each Tranche of Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary global note (each a "Temporary Global Note") which may be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and/or any other agreed clearing system. The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Temporary Global Notes for permanent global notes (each a "Permanent Global Note") and Definitive Notes are described in "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Application has been made to the Financial Services Authority in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "UK Listing Authority") for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of 12 months from the date of this Information Memorandum to be admitted to the official list of the UK Listing Authority (the "Official List") and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market. References in this Information Memorandum to Notes being "listed" (and related references) on the London Stock Exchange shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market. The London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market and have been admitted to the Official List. The London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 93/22/EEC (the Investment Services Directive). Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of, interest (if any) payable in respect of, the issue price of, and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to, the Notes of each Tranche will be set forth in the Final Terms (the "Final Terms") which, with respect to Notes to be listed on the London Stock Exchange, will be delivered to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche.

Copies of each Final Terms will be available from FT Business Research Centre operated by FT Interactive Data at Fitzroy House, 13-17 Epworth Street, London EC2A 4DL (in the case of Notes admitted to the Official List and to trading by the London Stock Exchange only) and from the specified office of each of the Paying Agents (as defined below).

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Information Memorandum. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Information Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Information Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in "Summary of the Programme"). Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries (as defined below) taken as a whole (the "Group") since the date hereof or the date upon which this Information Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Information Supplied in connection with the Programme dot or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Information Memorandum and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Information Memorandum comes are required by the Issuer, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Information Memorandum, see "Subscription and Sale".

This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

Neither the Arranger nor the Dealers have independently verified the information contained in this Information Memorandum. None of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility or liability, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information contained or incorporated in this Information Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme. Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Information Memorandum or any other financial statements should purchase any of the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Information Memorandum and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Information Memorandum nor to advise any investor or potential investor in any Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger. None of the Dealers or the Arranger accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme.

In connection with any Tranche, one of the Dealers may act as a stabilising manager (the "Stabilising Manager"). The identity of the Stabilising Manager will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. References in the next paragraph to "the issue" are to each Tranche in relation to which a Stabilising Manager is appointed.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes (provided that, in the case of any Tranche of Notes to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area, the aggregate principal amount of the Notes allotted does not exceed 105 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Tranche) or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes.

The financial information included in this Information Memorandum has not been prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards (the "International Accounting Standards") adopted pursuant to the procedure of Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No1606/2002 and there may be material differences in the financial information had Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 been applied to the historical financial information.

The Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in Australian dollars in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Australia which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and the International Accounting Standards.

In this Information Memorandum, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to "U.S. dollars", "U.S.\$" and to "cents" are to the currency of the United States of America, to "A\$", "\$" and "dollars" are to the currency of the Commonwealth of Australia, to "£" and "Sterling" are to the currency of the United Kingdom and to "euro" are to the currency introduced at the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

# **Documents Incorporated by Reference**

The following documents which have previously been published shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Information Memorandum:

• the financial report 2004 and 2005 (including the auditors' report, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer in respect of the years ended 30 August 2004 and 30 August 2005 and notes thereon),

save that any statement contained herein or in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Information Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any document which is subsequently incorporated by reference herein by way of a supplement prepared in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Information Memorandum.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum can be obtained from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Paying Agent for the time being in London, set out at the end of this Information Memorandum.

# **Supplemental Information Memorandum**

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Information Memorandum which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Information Memorandum or publish a new Information Memorandum for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. The Issuer has undertaken to the Dealers in the Dealer Agreement (as defined in "Subscription and Sale") that it will comply with section 87G of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA").

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
Overview of the Programme	6
Risk Factors	10
Terms and Conditions of the Notes	15
Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form	34
Use of Proceeds	36
Bank of Queensland Limited	37
Australian Taxation	41
United Kingdom Taxation and EU Savings Directive	45
Significant Differences Between Australian GAAP (AGAAP) and International Financial	
Reporting Standards (IFRS)	46
Subscription and Sale	49
Form of Final Terms	53
General Information	62

# **Overview of the Programme**

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Information Memorandum and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any Tranche, by the applicable Final Terms. Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" shall have the same meanings in this summary.

lssuer:	Bank of Queensland Limited (ABN 32 009 656 740)
Description:	Euro Medium Term Note Programme
Size:	Up to U.S.\$2,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time.
Arranger:	UBS Limited ("UBS").
Dealers:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V. Barclays Bank PLC Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch HSBC Bank plc J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. Macquarie Bank Limited (ABN 46 008 583 542) Nomura International plc UBS Limited Westpac Banking Corporation, Singapore The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any Dealer
	under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme.
Agent:	Citibank, N.A.
Method of Issue:	The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in Series having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the interest commencement date and related matters), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in Tranches on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in a Final Terms.
Issue Price:	Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to their nominal amount and may be issued on a fully-paid or partly-paid basis.
Form of Notes:	The Notes will be issued in bearer form only. Each Tranche of Notes will be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note which will be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system and which will be exchangeable, upon request, as described therein for either a Permanent Global Note or Definitive Notes (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of Definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in each case not earlier than 40 days after the issue date upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. A Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), either (i) upon not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Global Note) to the Agent as described therein or (ii) upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event (as defined in "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in

Global Form" below). Any interest in a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system, as appropriate.

- **Clearing Systems:** Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in relation to any Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Dealer(s) and the Agent.
- **Initial Delivery of Notes:** Temporary Global Notes may be deposited with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer, the relevant Dealer(s) and the Agent.
- **Currencies:** Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, Danish kroner, euro, Hong Kong dollars, New Zealand dollars, Sterling, Swedish kronor, Swiss francs or U.S. dollars or in other currencies if the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) so agree.
- **Redenomination:** The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be redenominated in euro.
- Maturities:Such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant<br/>Dealer(s) and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms, subject to such<br/>minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to<br/>time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or<br/>regulations applicable to the Issuer or the relevant currency.

At the date of this Information Memorandum, the minimum maturity of all Notes is one month.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will, if the proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom, constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in section 19 of the FSMA unless they are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent, see "Subscription and Sale".

- Denomination: Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency (see also "Currencies" above) and save that the minimum denomination of each Note admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which otherwise require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive will be €50,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).
- **Fixed Rate Notes:** Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on such date or dates in each year as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and on redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).

**Floating Rate Notes:** Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

(i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest-rate swap transaction in the relevant currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2000 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended

	and updated as at the issue date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or
	(ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service; or
	<ul><li>(iii) on such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s),</li></ul>
	as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
	The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.
Index Linked Notes:	Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or changes in the prices of securities or commodities or to such other factors as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).
to Floating Rate Notes and	<b>n</b> Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.
Index Linked Interest Notes:	Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as selected prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates as are specified in, or determined pursuant to, the applicable Final Terms and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).
Dual Currency Notes:	Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).
Zero Coupon Notes:	Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest and will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Redemption:	The Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes will indicate either that the Notes of such Tranche cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in specified instalments (see below), if applicable, or for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as is indicated in the applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as are indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
	The Final Terms may provide that Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of such amounts and on such dates as are indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
Status of the Notes:	Notes and any relative Receipts and/or Coupons will be direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and (subject as provided above) will rank <i>pari passu</i> , without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future (other than obligations preferred by mandatory provisions of law) – see Condition 2.
Negative Pledge:	The terms of the Notes will contain a negative pledge provision as further described in Condition 3.

Cross Default:	The terms of the Notes will contain a cross-default provision as further described in Condition 9.
Withholding Tax:	All payments in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of withholding taxes of the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will (subject to certain exceptions) pay such additional amounts as will result in the holders of Notes, Receipts or Coupons receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of such Notes, Receipts or Coupons had no such withholding or deduction been required, all as more fully described in Condition 7.
Governing Law:	English.
Listing:	Application has been made to the UKLA for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the Official List and to admit them to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market. The Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to each Series.
	Unlisted Notes may also be issued
	The Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes will state whether or not and, if so, on which stock exchange(s) the Notes are to be listed.
	The Dealer Agreement provides that, if the maintenance of the listing of any Notes has, in the opinion of the Issuer, become unduly onerous for any reason whatsoever, the Issuer shall be entitled to terminate such listing subject to its using its best endeavours promptly to list or admit to trading the Notes on an alternative stock exchange, within or outside the European Union, to be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.
Selling Restrictions:	United States, European Economic Area, United Kingdom, the Commonwealth of Australia, Switzerland, Hong Kong and Singapore and

**Iling Restrictions:** United States, European Economic Area, United Kingdom, the Commonwealth of Australia, Switzerland, Hong Kong and Singapore and such other jurisdictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Notes. See "Subscription and Sale".

The Issuer is Category 2 for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act. TEFRA D will apply.

# **Risk Factors**

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. These factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

# Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme

#### Dependence on the Australian economy

The Issuer's earnings are dependent on the level of financial services required by its customers. In particular, levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer confidence, the state of the economy, the home and business lending market and prevailing market interest rates at the time.

As the Issuer currently conducts all of its business in Australia, its performance is influenced by the level and cyclical nature of business and home lending activity in Australia, which is, in turn, impacted by both domestic and international economic and political events. There can be no assurance that a weakening in the Australian economy will not have a material effect on the Issuer's financial condition and results of operations.

#### Competition

The Issuer faces intense competition in all aspects of its business. The Issuer competes domestically with retail and commercial banks, non-bank mortgage brokers, leasing brokers, private banking firms and other investment services firms. In addition, the trend toward consolidation in the global financial services industry is creating competitors with broader ranges of product and service offerings, increased access to capital, and greater efficiency and pricing power. In recent years, competition has also increased as large banking industry participants have sought to establish themselves in markets that are perceived to offer higher growth potential, and as local institutions have become more sophisticated and competitive and have sought alliances, mergers or strategic relationships.

#### Credit risk

Credit risk is the Issuer's most significant risk and arises primarily from its lending activities. As at 31 August 2005, the Issuer held general and specific provisions to cover bad and doubtful debts. From 1 September 2005, under IFRS, the Issuer will apply the incurred loss approach for loan provisioning. If these provisions prove inadequate, either because of an economic downturn or a significant breakdown in its credit disciplines, then this could have a material adverse effect on its business.

#### Market risk

The Issuer is exposed to market risk as a consequence of its trading activities in financial markets and through the asset and liability management of the Issuer's overall financial position. In the financial markets trading businesses, the Issuer is exposed to losses arising from adverse movements in levels and volatility of interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet the Issuer's payment obligations which could potentially arise as a result of mismatched cashflows generated by its business. The Issuer manages this risk through a Board approved liquidity framework.

The Issuer's liquidity risk management framework models its ability to fund under both normal conditions and during a crisis situation. This approach is designed to ensure that the Issuer's funding framework is sufficiently flexible to ensure liquidity under a wide range of market conditions.

#### Operational risk

As a financial services organisation, the Issuer is exposed to a variety of other risks, including those arising from process error, fraud, systems failure, security franchise agreements entered into with retail branch franchisees or retail branch agents and physical protection, customer services, staff skills and performance, and product development and maintenance.

#### Regulatory risk

The Issuer's business is subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight. Any significant regulatory developments, including changes to accounting standards, could have an adverse effect on how the Issuer conducts its business and on its results of operations. Its business and earnings are also affected by the fiscal or other policies that are adopted by various regulatory authorities of the Australian government, foreign governments and international agencies. The nature and impact of future changes in such policies are not predictable and are beyond the Issuer's control.

# Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme

#### The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- (i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

#### Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features:

#### Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to

do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

#### Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a "Relevant Factor"). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

- (i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- (ii) they may receive no interest;
- (iii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- (iv) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- (v) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- (vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable likely will be magnified; and
- (vii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

#### Partly-paid Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of his investment.

#### Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

#### Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rates on its Notes.

#### Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

#### **Risks related to Notes generally**

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

#### Modification and waiver

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of the Notes, the Coupons, the Receipts or the Agency Agreement which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) any modification of the Notes, the Coupons, or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with a mandatory provision of law.

#### EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required, from 1 July 2005, to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries).

If, following implementation of this Directive, a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. If a withholding tax is imposed on payment made by a Paying Agent following implementation of this Directive, the Issuer will be required to maintain a Paying Agent in a Member State that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the Directive.

#### Change of law

The conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Information Memorandum. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Information Memorandum.

#### Trading in the clearing systems

Although Notes which are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive are required to have a minimum denomination of  $\notin$ 50,000 (or, where the Specified Currency is not euro, its equivalent in the Specified Currency), it is possible that the Notes may be traded in the clearing systems in amounts in excess of  $\notin$ 50,000 (or its equivalent) that are not integral multiples of  $\notin$ 50,000 (or its equivalent). In such a case, should definitive Notes be required to be issued, a holder who does not have an integral multiple of  $\notin$ 50,000 (or its equivalent) in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive all of his entitlement in the form of definitive Notes unless and until such time as his holding becomes an integral multiple of  $\notin$ 50,000 (or its equivalent).

#### Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

#### The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

#### Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

#### Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

#### Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

#### Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

# Terms and Conditions of the Notes

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note and each Definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange (if any) or other relevant listing authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such Definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions (excluding the italicised paragraphs). The applicable Final Terms in relation to any Tranche of Notes may specify other terms and conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes. The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note and Definitive Note. Reference should be made to "Form of Final Terms" below. The applicable Final Terms will include the definitions of certain terms used in the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by Bank of Queensland Limited (ABN 32 009 656 740) (the "Issuer") pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined below).

References herein to the "Notes" shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

- (i) in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, units of the lowest Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency;
- (ii) Definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note; and
- (iii) any Global Note.

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (as further amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") dated 22 January 2001 and made between the Issuer, Citibank, N.A., London office as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor as agent) and Citibank, A.G., Frankfurt office (together with the Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents).

Interest bearing Definitive Notes (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms) have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, if indicated in the applicable Final Terms, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Definitive Notes repayable in instalments have receipts ("Receipts") for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) attached on issue.

The Final Terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) is attached to or endorsed on this Note and supplements these Terms and Conditions and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Terms and Conditions, replace or modify these Terms and Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References herein to the "applicable Final Terms" are to the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note.

Any reference herein to "Noteholders" shall mean the holders of the Notes, and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Receiptholders" shall mean the holders of the Receipts and any reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons, and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and "Series" means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical in all respects (including as to listing) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated 22 December 2005, and made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (both as defined below).

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Final Terms applicable to this Note and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Agent and the

other Paying Agents save that, if this Note is an unlisted Note of any Series, the applicable Final Terms will only be available for inspection by a Noteholder holding one or more unlisted Notes of that Series and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the relevant Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity. The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

# 1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes may be in bearer form and, in the case of Definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency and the Specified Denomination(s). Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked Interest Note, or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

This Note may be an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note, a Partly Paid Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Terms and Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery. The Issuer and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the bearer of any Note, Receipt or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./ N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg", formerly Cedelbank), each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on the Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer and the Agent.

### 2. Status of the Notes

The Notes and any relative Receipts and/or Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 3) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and (subject as provided above) rank and will rank *pari passu*, without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future (other than obligations preferred by mandatory provisions of Iaw).

Section 13A(3) of the Banking Act 1959 of Australia provides that, in the event of an authorised deposittaking institution (ADI) becoming unable to meet its obligations or suspending payment, the assets of the ADI in Australia shall be available to meet its deposit liabilities in Australia in priority to all other liabilities of the ADI. The Notes, Receipts and Coupons do not constitute deposit liabilities in Australia of the Issuer. Section 86 of the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of Australia provides that debts due to the Reserve Bank of Australia by an ADI specified in the First Schedule to the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (of which the Issuer is one) shall, in a winding-up, but subject to the aforesaid section 13A(3) of the Banking Act 1959 of Australia, have priority over all other debts of such ADI other than debts due to the Commonwealth of Australia.

# 3. Negative Pledge

So long as any of the Notes remain outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), the Issuer will not, and will ensure that none of its Subsidiaries (as defined in Condition 9(b)) will, create or permit to subsist any Security Interest (as defined in Condition 9(b)) upon the whole or any part of its present or future assets or revenues as security for any Debt Instruments (as defined below) or any Guarantee (as defined in Condition 9(b)) given in respect of any Debt Instruments unless, in the case of the creation of a Security Interest, prior to or simultaneously therewith, and in any other case, promptly, the Issuer either:

- grants or procures to be granted a Security Interest or Security Interests securing its obligations under the Notes and the relative Receipts and Coupons which will result in such obligations being secured equally and rateably in all respects so as to rank *pari passu* with the relevant Debt Instruments or Guarantee; or
- (ii) grants or procures to be granted such other Security Interest or Security Interests in respect of its obligations under the Notes and the relative Receipts and Coupons as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders.

For the purposes of these Conditions, "Debt Instruments" means any notes, bonds, certificates of deposit, loan stock, debentures, bills of exchange, transferable loan certificates or other similar instruments of indebtedness issued by, or the obligations under which have been assumed by, the Issuer or a Subsidiary of the Issuer.

# 4. Interest

### (a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest. Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to and including the Maturity Date.

Except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

As used in these Conditions, "Fixed Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

If Interest is required to be calculated for a period other than a Fixed Interest Period, such interest shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance with this Condition 4(a):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:
  - (A) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination

Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or

- (B) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
  - (1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; and
  - (2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (ii) If "30/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360.

#### In these Conditions:

"Determination Period" means the period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date); and

"sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

#### (b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes

(i) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears interest on its nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) (each an "Interest Payment Date") in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or
- (B) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date (each an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Final Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression shall, in these Conditions, mean the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

If a business day convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day on the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the business day convention specified is:

(1) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 4(b)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis* or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred; or

- (2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- (3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

In this Condition, "Business Day" means a day which is both:

- (A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in London and any Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (B) either (1) in relation to interest payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than London and any Additional Business Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars shall be Sydney) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the Trans European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) System (the "TARGET System") is open.
- (ii) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2000 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (the "ISDA Definitions")) and under which:

- (1) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (2) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (3) the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate ("LIBOR") or on the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate ("EURIBOR") for a currency, the first day of that Interest Period or (ii) in any other case, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
  - (1) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:
    - (A) the offered quotation; or
    - (B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination

Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

- (2) If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if in the case of Condition 4(b)(ii)(B)(1)(A) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of Condition 4(b)(ii)(B)(1)(B) above, fewer than three such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the time specified in the preceding paragraph the Agent shall request each of the Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent.
- (3) If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent with such offered quotations as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of) the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in the London inter-bank market plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London interbank market plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).
- (4) "Reference Banks" means, in the case of Condition 4(b)(ii)(B)(1)(A) above, those banks whose offered rates were used to determine such quotation when such quotation last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of Condition 4(b)(ii)(B)(1)(B) above, those banks whose offered quotations last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page when no fewer than three such offered quotations appeared.
- (5) If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms.

#### (iii) Minimum and/or Maximum Interest Rate

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph *(ii)* above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph *(ii)* above is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

#### (iv) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, and the Calculation Agent, in the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period. In the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, the Calculation Agent will notify the Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same.

The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable on the Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Specified Denomination for the relevant Interest Period. Each Interest Amount shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any Interest Period:

- (A) if "Actual/365" or "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (1) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (2) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (B) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
- (C) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (D) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
- (E) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months (unless (1) the last day of the Interest Period is the 31st day of a month but the first day of the Interest Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day month, or (2) the last day of the Interest Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month); or
- (F) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months, without regard to the date of the first day or last day of the Interest Period unless, in the case of the final Interest Period, the Maturity Date is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month).
- (v) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange on which

the relevant Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 13 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth London Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression "London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London.

(vi) Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 4(*b*), whether by the Agent or, if applicable, the Calculation Agent, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error by them or any of their directors, officers, employees or agents) be binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the Calculation Agent (if applicable), the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of the above) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Agent or (if applicable) the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions under this Condition.

#### (c) Interest on Dual Currency Notes

In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to an exchange rate, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

#### (d) Interest on Partly Paid Notes

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

#### (e) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or, in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

- (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and
- (ii) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Note has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

### 5. Payments

# (a) Method of Payment

Subject as provided below:

- (i) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non-resident account) maintained by the payee with, or, at the option of the Payee, by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency; and
- (ii) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro cheque.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7. Reference in these Conditions to "Specified Currency" will include any successor currency under applicable law.

#### (b) Presentation of Definitive Notes, Receipts and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Definitive Notes, and payments of interest in respect of Definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

Payments of instalments of principal (if any), in respect of Definitive Notes, other than the final instalment, will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Receipt in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Payment of the final instalment will be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of the final instalment will be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Note in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Each Receipt must be presented for payment of the relevant instalment together with the Definitive Note to which it appertains. Receipts presented without the Definitive Note to which they appertain do not constitute valid obligations of the Issuer. Upon the date on which any Definitive Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Receipts (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect thereof.

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form (other than Dual Currency Notes, Index Linked Notes or Long Maturity Notes (as defined below) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 8) or, if later, 5 years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Dual Currency Note, Index Linked Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof. A "Long Maturity Note" is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than nominal amount of such Note.

If the due date for redemption of any Definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Note.

#### (c) Payments in respect of Global Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any Global Note will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States. A record of

each payment made against presentation or surrender of any Global Note, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be *prima facie* evidence that the payment in question has been made.

#### (d) General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this condition, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of Notes is payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of such Notes will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

- the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (ii) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. dollars; and
- (iii) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

#### (e) Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 8) is:

- (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:
  - (A) the relevant place of presentation;
  - (B) London;
  - (C) any Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (ii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than the place of presentation, London and any Additional Financial Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars shall be Sydney) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET System is open.

#### (f) Interpretation of Principal and Interest

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any Additional Amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 7;
- (ii) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iii) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iv) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;
- (v) in relation to Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts;

- (vi) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 6(e)); and
- (vii) any premium and any other amounts which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any Additional Amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 7.

#### 6. Redemption and Purchase

#### (a) Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date.

#### (b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

If (i) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland or any political sub-division of, or any authority in, or of, the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of the laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes, on the occasion of the next payment due in respect of the Notes the Issuer would be required to pay Additional Amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7, and (ii) the requirement cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, the Issuer may at its option, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all the Notes, but not some only, at any time (if this Note is neither a Floating Rate Note nor an Index Linked Interest Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is either a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Interest Note) provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred to in this paragraph the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes to which the notice refers in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6(b) will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount referred to in paragraph (e) below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

#### (c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the issuer may, having given:

- (i) not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and
- (ii) not less than 15 days before the giving of the notice referred to in (i), notice in writing to the Agent;

(which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount or a Higher Redemption Amount. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed ("Redeemed Notes") will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the "Selection Date"). In the case of

Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 13 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. The aggregate nominal amount of Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes shall bear the same proportion to the aggregate nominal amount of all Redeemed Notes as the aggregate nominal amount of Definitive Notes outstanding bears to the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes outstanding, in each case on the Selection Date, provided that such first-mentioned nominal amount shall, if necessary, be rounded downwards to the nearest integral multiple of the Specified Denomination, and the aggregate nominal amount of Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note shall be equal to the balance of the Redeemed Notes. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this paragraph *(c)* and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 at least 5 days prior to the Selection Date.

#### (d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

If Investor Put is specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice or such other period of notice as is specified in the applicable Final Terms the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable Final Terms, in whole (but not in part), such Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date.

If this Note is in definitive form, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must deliver such Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling within the notice period, accompanied by a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent (a "Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify a bank account or, if payment is by cheque, an address to which payment is to be made under this Condition. If this Note is represented by a Global Note, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (which may include notice being given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary for them to the Agent by electronic means) in a form acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time and, at the same time, present or procure the presentation of the relevant Global Note to the Agent for notation accordingly.

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this paragraph shall be irrevocable except where prior to the due date of redemption an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this paragraph and instead to declare such Note forthwith due and payable pursuant to Condition 9.

#### (e) Early Redemption Amounts

For the purpose of paragraph (b) above and Condition 9, each Note will be redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount calculated as follows:

- (i) in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof;
- (ii) in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note but including an Instalment Note and Partly Paid Note) with a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price or which is payable in a Specified Currency other than that in which the Note is denominated, at the amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms or, if no such amount or manner is so specified in the applicable Final Terms, at their nominal amount; or
- (iii) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, at an amount (the "Amortised Face Amount") equal to the product of:
  - (A) the Reference Price; and
  - (B) the sum of the figure 1 and the Accrual Yield, raised to the power of x, where "x" is a fraction the numerator of which is equal to the number of days (calculated on the basis of a 360-

day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator of which is 360,

or on such other calculation basis as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

#### (f) Instalments

Instalment Notes will be redeemed in the Instalment Amounts and on the Instalment Dates. In the case of early redemption, the Early Redemption Amount will be determined pursuant to paragraph (e) above.

#### (g) Partly Paid Notes

Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the applicable Final Terms.

#### (h) Purchases

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (as defined in the Agency Agreement) may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of Definitive Notes, all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. If purchases are made by tender, tenders must be available to all Noteholders alike. Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation.

#### (i) Cancellation

All Notes which are (i) redeemed or (ii) purchased for cancellation pursuant to paragraph (*h*) above, will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption), and shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.

#### (j) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) above or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in Condition 9 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in paragraph (e) (iii) above as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

- (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and
- (ii) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Zero Coupon Notes has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

### 7. Taxation

All payments in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer shall be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland, or any political sub-division of, or any authority in, or of, the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts ("Additional Amounts") as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, Receipts or Coupons in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable in relation to any payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon:

(a) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such Taxes in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland other than the mere holding of such Note, Receipt or Coupon or receipt of principal or interest in respect thereof provided that such a holder shall not be regarded as being connected with the Commonwealth of Australia for the reason that such a holder is a resident of the Commonwealth of Australia within the meaning of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (the "Tax Act") where, and to the extent that, such tax is payable by reason of section 128B (2A) of the Tax Act;

- (b) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that a holder would have been entitled to Additional Amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of the period of 30 days assuming, whether or not such is in fact the case, that day to have been a Payment Date;
- (c) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to the Taxes in respect of the Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of his being an associate of the Issuer for the purposes and within the meaning of sections 128F(5), 128F(6) and 128F(9) of the Tax Act;
- (d) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;
- (e) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the EU.

As used herein, the "Relevant Date" means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Agent on or before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

# 8. Prescription

The Notes, Receipts and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and 5 years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) therefor, subject as provided in Condition 5(b).

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 5(b) or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 5(b).

# 9. Events of Default

(a) If any one or more of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur:

- (i) if the Issuer fails to pay any principal or any interest in respect of the Notes within seven days of the relevant due date;
- (ii) if the Issuer is in default in the performance, or is otherwise in breach, of any covenant or undertaking or other agreement of the Issuer in respect of the Notes (other than any obligation for the payment of any amount due in respect of any of the Notes) and such default or breach continues for a period of 14 days after notice thereof has been given to the Issuer;
- (iii) if it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of its obligations under the Notes or the Agency Agreement;
- (iv) if the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary (A) becomes insolvent, is unable to pay its debts as they fall due or fails to comply with a statutory demand (which is still in effect) under section 459F of the Corporations Act, or (B) stops or suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of its debts or appoints an administrator under section 436A of the Corporations Act, or (C) begins negotiations or takes any proceeding or other step with a view to readjustment, rescheduling or deferral of all its indebtedness (or any part of its indebtedness which it will or might otherwise be unable to pay when due) or proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting indebtedness of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary, except in any case referred to in (C) above for the purposes of a solvent reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which have previously been approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders;
- (v) if an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary (except (a) in any such case for the purposes of a solvent reconstruction or

amalgamation the terms of which have previously been approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or (b) in the case of a Material Subsidiary, for the purposes aforesaid whereby the undertaking and assets of the Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another of its Subsidiaries) or an administrator is appointed to the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary by a provisional liquidator of the Issuer or that Material Subsidiary under section 436B of the Corporations Act;

- (vi) if a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced or sued out against or on the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary or against all or a material part of the assets of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary and is not stayed, satisfied or discharged within 21 days;
- (vii) if any present or future Security Interest on or over the assets of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary becomes enforceable and any step (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or similar officer which is not vacated or discharged within 14 days) is taken to enforce that Security Interest by reason of a default or event of default (howsoever described) having occurred;
- (viii) if any event occurs which, under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction, has an analogous or equivalent effect to any of the events mentioned in this Condition; or
- (ix) if any Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer or of any of its Material Subsidiaries which in aggregate exceeds A\$2,500,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies):
  - (A) is not paid when due or within any applicable grace period as originally provided (or, if payable or to be discharged or honoured on demand, when demanded); or
  - (B) becomes due and repayable before its scheduled maturity by reason of a default or event of default (howsoever described),

then any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Agent, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Agent, declare the Note held by the holder to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(e)), together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind.

- (b) For the purposes of these Conditions:
  - (i) "Corporations Act" means the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia;
  - (ii) "Financial Arrangement" includes a futures contract or futures option, a currency swap, an interest rate swap, a forward exchange agreement or any other option agreement or combination of the above or any similar arrangement;
  - (iii) "Financial Indebtedness" means, in respect of any person, any indebtedness, present or future, actual or contingent of that person in respect of moneys borrowed or raised or any financial accommodation or Financial Arrangement whatsoever including (without limiting the generality of the foregoing):
    - (A) under or in respect of any Guarantee, bill, acceptance or endorsement or any discounting arrangement;
    - (B) in respect of any obligation to pay par value, premium and dividend (whether or not declared, and whether or not there are sufficient profits or other moneys for payment) of any redeemable share or stock issued by that person or to purchase any share or stock issued by that person which is the subject of a put option against that person;
    - (C) in respect of any Lease which under current accounting practice would be required to be capitalised on the balance sheet of the lessee;
    - (D) the deferred purchase price (for more than 90 days) of any asset or service and any related obligation; and
    - (E) in respect of any obligation to deliver goods or services which are paid for in advance by a financier or which are paid for in advance in relation to any financing transaction;
  - (iv) "Government Agency" means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental or judicial entity or authority;

- (v) "Guarantee" means any guarantee, indemnity, letter of credit, suretyship or any other obligation (whatever called and of whatever nature):
  - (A) to pay or to purchase; or
  - (B) to provide funds (whether by the advance of money, the purchase of or subscription for share or other securities, the purchase of assets, rights or services, or otherwise) for the payment or discharge of; or
  - (C) to indemnify against the consequences of default in the payment of; or
  - (D) otherwise to be responsible for:

any obligation or indebtedness, any dividend, capital or premium on shares or stock or the insolvency or the financial condition of any other person;

- (vi) "Lease" means:
  - (A) any lease, charter or hiring arrangement of any property;
  - (B) any other agreement under which any property is or may be used or operated by a person other than the owner; and
  - (C) any agreement under which any property is or may be managed or operated for or on behalf of the owner or another person by a person other than the owner, and the operator or manager or its related body corporate (as defined in section 9 of the Corporations Act) (whether in the same or another agreement) is required to make or assure minimum, fixed and/or floating rate payments of a periodic nature;

(other than agreements under which the manager of a joint venture uses assets owned by the joint venture on behalf of the joint venture);

- (vii) "Material Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary of the Issuer as to which either or both of the following conditions is satisfied:
  - (A) its net profits attributable to the Issuer (before taxation and extraordinary items) for its last completed financial year represent 5 per cent. or more of the consolidated net profits (before taxation and extraordinary items but after deducting minority interests in Subsidiaries) of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for its last completed financial year; or
  - (B) its gross assets attributable to the Issuer for its last completed financial year represent 5 per cent. or more of the consolidated gross assets (after deducting minority interests in Subsidiaries) of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for its last completed financial year;

in each case as determined from the latest available relevant audited accounts and provided that, on a Material Subsidiary transferring all or substantially all of its assets to another Subsidiary, the transferor shall cease to be a Material Subsidiary and (if the transferee is a Subsidiary but not a Material Subsidiary) the transferee shall become a Material Subsidiary, all as more particularly defined in the Agency Agreement.

A certificate by the Auditors as to whether a Subsidiary of the Issuer is or is not, or was or was not, at any particular time, a Material Subsidiary shall be conclusive;

- (viii) "Security Interest" includes any mortgage, pledge, lien or charge or any security or preferential interest or arrangement of any kind (including, without limitation, retention of title and any deposit of money by way of security), but excluding (A) any charge or lien arising in favour of any Government Agency by operation of law (provided there is no default in payment of moneys owing under such charge or lien), (B) a right of title retention in connection with the acquisition of goods in the ordinary course of business on the terms of sale of the supplier (provided there is no default in connection with the relevant acquisition) and (C) any security or preferential interest or arrangement arising under or created pursuant to any right of set-off; and
- (ix) "Subsidiary" has the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act.

### 10. Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

Should any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Agent upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer

may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

# 11. Agent and Paying Agents

The names of the initial Agent and the other initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out below.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

- so long as the Notes are listed on or admitted to trading by any stock exchange or admitted to listing by any other relevant authority, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange or any other relevant authority;
- (ii) there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in a city in continental Europe;
- (iii) there will at all times be an Agent; and
- (iv) the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a paying agent in a Member State of the European Union that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in Condition 5(d). Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only take effect (other than in the case of insolvency, when it shall be of immediate effect) after not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' prior notice thereof shall have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders. The Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Paying Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor paying agent.

# 12. Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date, on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 8. Each Talon shall, for the purposes of these Terms and Conditions, be deemed to mature on the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in the Coupon Sheet in which that Talon was included on issue matures.

# 13. Notices

All notices regarding the Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London. It is expected that such publication will be made in the *Financial Times* in London. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed or by which they have been admitted to listing. Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

Until such time as any Definitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as any Global Note(s) representing the Notes is or are held in its/their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, be substituted for such publication in such newspaper(s) the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication by them to the holders of the Notes and, in addition, for so long as any Notes are listed or admitted to trading on a stock exchange or are admitted to listing by other relevant authority and the rules of that stock exchange or other relevant authority so require, such notice will be published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the place or places required by that stock

exchange or other relevant authority. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the seventh day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together (in the case of any Note in definitive form) with the relative Note or Notes, with the Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note, such notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Agent via Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner as the Agent and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

# 14. Meetings of Noteholders and Modification

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the modification by Extraordinary Resolution of any of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or Noteholders holding not less than 5 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum at any meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons present holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons present whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented by him or them, except that at any adjourned meeting, the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereof, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority, in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on all Receiptholders and Couponholders.

The Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders, to:

- (i) any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Agency Agreement which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or
- (ii) any modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 as soon as practicable thereafter.

# 15. Further Issues

The Issuer is at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes.

# 16. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

### 17. Governing law and submission to jurisdiction

#### (a) Governing Law

The Agency Agreement, the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with English law.

#### (b) Jurisdiction

The Issuer agrees for the benefit of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders that the courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons and that accordingly any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in connection therewith (together referred to as "Proceedings") may be brought in the courts of England.

The Issuer hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to raise any objection which it may have now or subsequently to the laying of the venue of any Proceedings in the courts of England and any claim that any such Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and further irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon it and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction. Nothing in this Condition shall limit any right to take Proceedings against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether concurrently or not.

#### (c) Agent for service of process

The Issuer irrevocably and unconditionally appoints Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited at its office in London (currently at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London EC2V 7EX) as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings and undertakes that in the event of Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited ceasing so to act it will appoint such other person as its agent for that purpose.

# Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form

# **Initial Issue of Notes**

Each Tranche of Notes will initially be represented by a Temporary Global Note which on issue will be delivered to a common depositary outside the United States for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the "Common Depositary"). Upon such delivery Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of subscribers with other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems.

# **Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems**

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system as the holder of a Note represented by a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note (each a "Global Note") must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other clearing system (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other clearing system (as the case may be). Subject to the Terms and Conditions such person shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid.

# Exchange

1. **Temporary Global Notes.** On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is 40 days after a Temporary Global Note is issued, interests in a Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for Definitive Notes of the same Series (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of Definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as described below unless such certification has already been given. The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

2. Permanent Global Notes. The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes upon either (i) not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Global Note) to the Agent as described therein or (ii) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 9) has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available or (iii) the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Global Note) may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Agent.

In this Information Memorandum, "Definitive Notes" means, in relation to any Global Note, the Definitive Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Receipts, Coupons in respect of interest that has not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. On exchange in full of each Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes.

3. **Payments.** Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date will be made against presentation of the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Agent.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent Global Note without any requirement for certification.

4. **Legend.** The following legend will appear on all Global Notes, Definitive Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Notes, Receipts or Coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes, Receipts or Coupons.

### **Deed of Covenant**

A Note may be accelerated automatically by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of Default". In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and a holder of such Note so represented and credited to his securities account with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg gives notice that it wishes to accelerate such Note, unless within a period of 7 days from the giving of such notice payment has been made in full of the amount due in accordance with the terms of such Global Note, such Global Note will become void. At the same time, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on and subject to the terms of the Deed of Covenant.

# **Use of Proceeds**

The net proceeds of issue of each Tranche will be used by the Issuer to maintain a prudential level of liquidity and to finance the Australian commercial business operations of the Issuer.
# **Bank of Queensland Limited**

# History

The Bank of Queensland Limited ("the Bank") is a public company incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Australia in 1887 and domiciled in Australia and listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Bank is regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority as an authorised deposit-taking institution. The Bank's principal office is located at Level 17, BOQ Center, 259, Queen Street, Brisbane, 4000 Queensland and its telephone number is 61 7 3212 3366.

The Bank has its origins in the Brisbane Permanent Benefit Building Banking and Investment Society which was formed in 1874. Brisbane Permanent converted from a building society into a bank in 1887. Following various mergers and acquisitions the Bank was granted a formal commercial banking licence in 1941 and changed its name to Bank of Queensland Limited in 1970.

On 8 November 1999 the State Government of Queensland (the "State Government") announced that their shareholding in the Bank would pass to investors via a public offering. The State Government's approach to the sell down was reflected in not only the preference given to Queenslanders in the retail allocation, but also the preference given to long term portfolio investors in the institutional allocation.

The Bank welcomed the announcement of the State Government's decision to sell off its shareholdings in the Bank. The sale by the State Government enabled the Bank to focus on the business of providing banking services to the people of Queensland and, more recently, the people of New South Wales, Australian Capital Territory and Victoria.

# Profile

With total assets on balance sheet of A\$11,065.7 million as at 31 August 2005 the Bank is one of the smaller Australian regional banks. In spite of its relatively small asset base, the Bank operates a widespread network of 177 retail branches (as at the 13 October 2005), including 22 in New South Wales, 14 in Victoria, 2 in the ACT and 139 in Queensland. Of these 177 retail branches, 57 are owned and operated by the Bank while 120 are manager-owned using the Bank's innovative Owner-Managed Branch<sup>®</sup> ("OMB") model.

The Bank's loan portfolio comprises residential property loans (60 per cent.), commercial loans (22 per cent.), leasing (11 per cent.) and consumer loans (4 per cent.) and overdrafts (3 per cent.).

# **Divisional Overview**

# **Retail Banking**

Underpinned by an ever-growing branch network and a new \$40 million Core Banking System, the Retail Bank is the cornerstone of the Bank's franchise. A comprehensive product offering encompassing transactional and saving accounts, mortgage and personal lending, and numerous credit card products augurs well for continued above-system growth in the Retail Banking Division. Whilst the Bank has historically operated exclusively in Queensland, the 2003/04 financial year saw the beginning of a move to diversify operations into the southern states of New South Wales and Victoria. To support this interstate branch roll out, customers have access to the use of Bank-branded ATMs across Australia.

The majority of branches are manager-owned using the Bank's innovative OMB model. OMBs are a relatively unique concept in the provision of face-to-face banking services in Australia. The OMB model involves sharing revenues generated through upfront commissions and trail commissions and net interest income and fee income which provides an incentive for the OMB to write profitable business. Unlike traditional brokers, OMBs are also provided incentives to bring in deposits. While the Bank tightly controls brand, credit policy, pricing, compliance and procedures, OMBs are encouraged to build their own business and manage their local market and are full service branches.

Lending in the Retail Bank encompassed 64 per cent. or A\$5.89 billion of the Bank's loan portfolio as at 31 August 2005.

# **Business Banking**

Unlike many other Australian regional banks which have their recent origins in building societies, the Bank, with its long history as a fully licensed commercial bank, has for some time had a significant

proportion of its lending portfolio in the small to medium business sector. Its history of exposure to this sector has offered the Bank some protection against an over-reliance on residential lending and also afforded the Bank the experience necessary to deal with the more complex credit decisions and on-going management required when lending to the small business sector. Following the successful acquisition and integration of UFJ Finance Australia Ltd's portfolio ("UFJA"), the Bank has significantly diversified its asset base and strengthened its representation in the Bank's core small to medium enterprise market. An extensive suite of products is offered to business customers and includes transactional accounts, foreign exchange hedging, merchant services and lending products such as factoring, leasing, overdrafts, commercial loans and trade finance facilities.As at 31 August 2005, lending through the Business Bank accounted for 33 per cent. or A\$3.03 billion of the Bank's loan portfolio.

## **Organisational Structure**

The Bank's controlled entities are set out in Note 37 to 39 to the 2005 consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference and form part of this Information Memorandum.

## **Shareholding Details**

As at 20 December 2005, the following shareholding details applied: **Eight largest ordinary shareholders** 

	No. of ordinary shares	%
Shareholder		
Linfox Share Investment No 2 Pty Limited $^{\dagger}$	10,872,060	10.31
Milton Corporation Limited	4,540,161	4.30
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited	3,277,022	3.11
National Nominees Limited	2,781,129	2.64
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited	2,189,229	2.08
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited	1,823,376	1.73
Abned Nominees Pty Limited*	1,377,959	1.31
Australian Executor Trustees Limited	1,361,875	1.29
Total	28,222,811	26.77

† Fox Group Holdings Pty Ltd

\* Includes the holdings of the Bank's managing director, David Liddy

# **Board of Directors**

The Board has eight Directors (including the Chairman) of whom seven are non-executive Directors and one executive Director (the Managing Director). The skills and experience of the Directors and their length of service, membership of Board committees are set out below.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee monitors the skills and experience of existing Directors and the balance between experience and new skills, which may lead to consideration of appointments of new Directors.

Every Director and Committee of the Board has the right to seek independent professional advice in connection with carrying out their duties at the expense of the Bank. Prior written approval of the Chairman is required.

The Board has assessed that a majority of the non executive Directors are "independent". The only non-executive Directors who have been assessed not to be independent are Mr Peter Fox and Mr Bill Kelty who are associated with substantial shareholder, the Linfox Group (see Shareholder table above for further details). The Board Charter requires that all Directors bring an independent mind to bear on all matters coming before the Board for consideration.

The basis of the Board's assessment is its independent policy which takes into account whether Directors have relationships with the Bank, its shareholders or advisers which are likely to materially interfere with the exercise of the Director's unfettered and independent judgment, having regard to all the circumstances.

The Bank does not consider that length of service on the Board is a factor affecting a Director's ability to act independently and in the best interests of the Bank. Independence is judged against the ability, integrity and willingness of the Director to act.

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, there are no existing or potential conflicts of interests between any duties owed to the Bank by its Directors and the private interests or other duties of those Directors, except as described in Notes 36(c) and (d) to the 2005 consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference and form part of this Information Memorandum.

The Directors of the Bank, the business address of each of whom should be regarded for the purposes of this Information Memorandum as 259 Queen Street, Brisbane 4000 Queensland, and their respective principal outside activities, where significant, are at the date of this Information Memorandum as follows:

#### Name and qualifications **Experience and special responsibilities** Age Neil Roberts, Neil Roberts was formerly the Senior Partner in Queensland 66 BA, LLB, FAICD of the commercial national law firm Minter Ellison. He has been a director of the Bank since November 1987 and was Chairman elected Chairman in June 1995. He is President of the Non-Executive Independent Director Queensland Library Foundation, the immediate past President of Queensland Private Enterprise Centre, and a former President of The Brisbane Club. He is the Chairman of the Bank's Remuneration & Nomination Committee. Mr Roberts retired from his position as a member of the Bank's Audit & Risk Committee during the period.

55 David Liddy has 37 years' experience in banking, including international postings in London and Hong Kong. He was appointed Managing Director of the Bank in April 2001. He has a Masters in Business Administration and is a director of the Brisbane Bears-Fitzroy Football Club and the Lions Foundation Limited, and is a Trustee of the Queensland Museum Foundation. Mr Liddy is also a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Banking and Finance, Associate of the Securities Institute of Australia, a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and sits on the Australian Bankers' Association Council. Mr Liddy is also a councillor of the Australian Business Arts Foundation. He is an ex-officio member of all of the Bank's Board sub-committees.

58 Antony Love is a property consultant with 35 years' experience and is a director of McGees Property. He is also a director of AP Eagers Limited and Campbell Brothers Limited. He is Chairman of the Bank's Budget Review Committee and a member of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee. He has been a director since June 1995 and was appointed Deputy Chairman in April 2003.

68 Bruce Phillips is a qualified accountant and had an extensive career as a stockbroker with over 40 years' experience. He is a past Chairman of the Brisbane Stock Exchange, and is currently a consultant with ABN AMRO Morgans, and a member of the Queensland Institute of Medical Research Trust. He has been a director since November 1996 and is a member of the Bank's Audit & Risk Committee and Budget Review Committee.

David Liddy, MBA, FAIBF, ASIA, MAICD Managing Director

Antony Love, B Com, AAUQ, FAPI, FREI, FAICD Deputy Chairman Non-Executive Independent Director

Bruce Phillips, Dip Com, FASA, CPA, FSIA, FAICD Non-Executive Independent Director Neil Summerson, B Com, FCA, FAICD, FAIM Non-Executive Independent Director

Peter Fox, B Bus (Hons) Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

Bill Kelty, B Ec. Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

John Reynolds, B Sc (Hons), B Bus, Dip Ed, FAIM Non-Executive Independent Director

- 57 Neil Summerson is a Chartered Accountant with 35 years' experience and a past Chairman of the Queensland branch of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. He was formerly the Queensland Managing Partner at Ernst & Young. He is a director of AmerAlia Inc, Leyshon Corporation Limited, The Wesley Research Institute Limited, Brisbane City Enterprises Limited and Australian Made Campaign Limited. He is Chairman of the Brisbane Water Board and PQ Lifestyles Limited. Mr Summerson has been a director of the Bank since December 1996 and is currently Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee.
- 43 Peter Fox has been with the Linfox Group for over 20 years. After a diverse career within the organisation, he was appointed, in chronological order, National Fleet Manager, Executive Officer, and director of Linfox Pty Ltd, culminating in his appointment as Executive Chairman of Fox Group Holdings in 1994. Mr Fox was appointed a director of the Bank in May 2001. He is also a director of the Alfred Foundation and a member of the Australian Graduate School of Management Advisory Council (UNSW). He is a member of the Bank's Budget Review Committee.
- 57 Bill Kelty has over 30 years' experience in industrial relations. He was appointed a director of the Bank in August 2001 and is currently a director of the Linfox Group and Australian Retirement Fund, and a Commissioner of the Australian Football League. He is also involved in the Foundation for Rural and Regional Taskforce and was previously Chairman of the Federal Government's Regional Development Taskforce. Mr Kelty was Secretary of the Australian Council of Trade Unions from 1983-2000 and a member of the Reserve Bank Board from 1988-1996. He is a member of the Bank's Corporate Governance Committee.
- 62 John Reynolds was appointed a director of the Bank in April 2003. He has extensive CEO-level experience at Top 100 media and resource companies in Australia and overseas. He is currently Chairman of CH4 Gas Limited and a director of Queensland Cotton Holdings Limited, Mater Health Services Brisbane Limited, Brisbane Powerhouse Pty Ltd and holds various university roles. Mr Reynolds is Chairman of the Bank's Corporate Governance Committee and is a member of the Bank's Remuneration & Nomination Committee and was appointed as a member of the Audit & Risk Committee during the year.

# **Australian Taxation**

The following is a summary of the Australian taxation treatment under the Income Tax Assessment Acts of 1936 and 1997 of Australia (together, the "Tax Act") as at the date of this Information Memorandum of payments of interest (as defined in the Tax Act on the Notes and certain other matters. It is not exhaustive, and in particular, does not deal with the position of certain classes of Noteholders (such as dealers in securities). Prospective Noteholders should be aware that particular terms of issue of any Series of Notes may affect the tax treatment of that and other Series of Notes. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers on the tax implications of an investment in the Notes for their particular circumstances.

## Interest Withholding Tax

An exemption from Australian interest withholding tax is available in respect of Notes issued by the Issuer under section 128F of the Tax Act if the following conditions are met:

- (a) the Issuer is either a resident of Australia or a non-resident of Australia that is carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia when it issues the Notes and when interest is paid. "Interest" is defined in section 128A (1AB) of the Tax Act to include amounts in the nature of, or in substitution for, interest and certain other amounts;
- (b) the Notes are issued in a manner which satisfies the public offer test. There are five principal methods of satisfying the public offer test the purpose of which is to ensure that lenders in overseas capital markets are aware that the Issuer is offering Notes for issue. In summary, the five methods are:
  - (i) offers for sale to at least 10 persons, each of which is carrying on a business of providing finance, or investing or dealing in securities, in the course of operating in financial markets and none of which is known to be or suspected by the Issuer to be, an associate of any of the others;
  - (ii) offers for sale to at least 100 persons whom it was reasonable for the Issuer to have regarded as either having acquired debentures in the past or being likely to be interested in acquiring Notes;
  - (iii) offers as result of the Notes being accepted for listing on a stock exchange, where the Issuer has previously entered into an agreement with a dealer, manager or underwriter, in relation to the placement of debentures, requiring the Issuer to seek such listing;
  - (iv) offers via publicly available information sources; or
  - (v) offers to the Dealers who offer to sell the Notes within 30 days by one of the preceding methods.

In addition, the issue of a global bond, such as a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note, by the Issuer and the offering of interests in the global bonds by one of these methods should satisfy the public offer test.

- (c) the Issuer does not know, or have reasonable grounds to suspect, at the time of issue, that the Notes were being, or would later be, acquired (directly or indirectly) by an "associate" of the Issuer except as permitted by section 128F(5) of the Tax Act; and
- (d) at the time of the payment of interest, the Issuer does not know, or have reasonable grounds to suspect, that the payee is an associate of the Issuer, except as permitted by section 128F(6) of the Tax Act.

## Associates

An "associate" of the Issuer for the purposes of section 128F of the Tax Act includes (i) a person or entity which holds more than 50 per cent. of the voting shares of, or otherwise controls, the Issuer, (ii) an entity in which more than 50 per cent. of the voting shares are held by, or which is otherwise controlled by, the Issuer, (iii) a trustee of a trust where the Issuer is capable of benefiting (whether directly or indirectly) under that trust, and (iv) a person or entity who is an "associate" of another person or company which is an "associate" of the Issuer under any of the foregoing.

However, for the purposes of sections 128F(5) and (6) of the Act (see paragraphs (c) and (d) above), "associate" does not include:

(A) Australian resident associates who do not hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia and non-resident associates who hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or

- (B) Australian resident associates that hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia and non-resident associates who do not hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business through a permanent establishment in Australia who are acting in the capacity of:
  - (i) in the case of section 128F(5), a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the relevant Notes or a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered managed investment scheme; or
  - (ii) in the case of section 128F(6), a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered managed investment scheme.

## Compliance with Section 128F of the Tax Act

The Issuer proposes to issue Notes in a manner which will satisfy the public offer test (or the requirements for a global bond or note) and which otherwise meets the requirements of section 128F of the Tax Act.

## US and UK Resident Noteholders

The Australian government has signed a number of new or amended double tax conventions ("New Treaties") with the Specified Countries. The New Treaties apply to interest derived by a resident of a Specified Country.

The New Treaties effectively prevent Australian interest withholding tax ("IWT") applying to interest derived by:

- governments of the Specified Countries and certain governmental authorities and agencies in a Specified Country;
- certain unrelated (1) banks and (2) other financial institutions resident in a Specified Country which substantially derive their profits by carrying on a business of raising and providing finance which are resident in the Specified Country,

by reducing the IWT rate to zero. Under the New Treaties back-to-back loans and economically equivalent arrangements will be subject to the 10 per cent. IWT rate and the anti-avoidance provisions in the Tax Act can apply.

Specified Countries means the United States and the United Kingdom. The New Treaty for the United States applies to any interest paid on or after 1 July 2003. The New Treaty for the United Kingdom applies to any interest paid on or after 1 July 2004.

### Section 126 of the Tax Act

Section 126 of the Tax Act imposes a type of withholding tax at the rate of 47 per cent. on the payment or credit of interest on certain bearer debt securities (other than certain promissory notes) including Notes issued in bearer form if the Issuer fails to disclose the names and addresses of the holders to the Australian Taxation Office. Section 126 does not apply to the payment of interest on Notes in bearer form held by non-residents who do not carry on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia where the issue of those Notes satisfied the requirements of section 128F of the Tax Act or interest withholding tax is payable.

The Australian Taxation Office has confirmed that for the purpose of section 126 of the Tax Act, the holder of debentures (such as the Notes in bearer form) means the person in possession of the debentures. Section 126 is therefore limited in its application to persons in possession of the Notes in bearer form who are residents in Australia or non-residents who are engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. Where interests in Notes in bearer form are held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Issuer intends to treat the operators of those clearing systems as the holders of those Notes for the purposes of section 126 of the Tax Act.

## Payment of additional amounts

As set out in more detail in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, unless expressly provided to the contrary in the relevant Final Terms (or another relevant supplement to this Information Memorandum), if the Issuer should at any time be compelled by law to deduct or withhold an amount in respect of any withholding taxes imposed or levied by the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated, the Issuer shall, subject to certain exceptions, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order to ensure that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after such deduction or withholding shall equal the

respective amounts which would have been received had no such deduction or withholding been required.

## **General Tax**

Under Australian law as presently in effect:

- (A) assuming the requirements of section 128F of the Tax Act are satisfied with respect to the Notes, payment of principal and interest (as defined in section 128A(1AB) of the Tax Act) to a Noteholder, who is a non-resident of Australia and who, during the taxable year, does not hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment within Australia, will not be subject to Australian income taxes;
- (B) a Noteholder, who is a non-resident of Australia and who during the taxable year does not hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment within Australia, will not be subject to Australian income tax on gains realised during that year on sale or redemption of the Notes, provided such gains do not have an Australian source. A gain arising on the sale of Notes by a non-Australian resident holder to another non-Australian resident where the Note is sold outside Australia and all negotiations are conducted, and documentation executed, outside Australia would not be regarded as having an Australian source;
- (C) Australian residents or non-Australian residents who hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia ("Australian Holders"), will be assessable for Australian tax purposes on interest either received or accrued due to them in respect of the Notes under ordinary concepts, provided that interest is "periodic interest" (i.e. interest paid at least annually). Whether periodic interest will be recognised on a cash receipts or accruals basis will depend upon the tax status of the particular Noteholder and the terms and conditions of the Notes. Any Notes with a term of greater than 1 year that are issued at a discount or with a maturity premium may constitute a "qualifying security" for the purposes of Division 16E of the Tax Act. In that case, the Australian Holder will be required to recognise the discount or premium component of each Note in their assessable income on a six monthly compounding accruals basis over the term of the Note on the basis provided for in the Division. Broadly speaking, this requires that component of the Notes to be brought into the Australian Holder's assessable income on an estimated yield to maturity basis. The actual receipt of the discount or premium component will not be separately assessable to the Holder. Special rules apply to the taxation of Australian residents who hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia which vary depending on the country in which that permanent establishment is located;
- (D) Australian Holders will be required to include any gain or loss on disposal of the Notes in their assessable income. In respect of any Notes that are qualifying securities for the purpose of Division 16E of the Tax Act, Australian Holders should calculate such a gain or loss under the balancing adjustment on transfer rules contained in Division 16E. Special rules apply to the taxation of Australian residents who hold the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia which vary depending on the country in which that permanent establishment is located;
- (E) there are specific rules that can apply to treat a portion of the purchase price of the Notes as interest for IWT purposes when certain Notes originally issued at a discount or with a maturity premium or which do not pay interest at least annually are sold to an Australian resident (who does not acquire them in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia) or a non-resident (who acquires them in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia). These rules do not apply in circumstances where the deemed interest would have been exempt under section 128F of the Tax Act, if the Notes had been held to maturity by a non-resident;
- (F) no Notes will be subject to death, estate or succession duties imposed by Australia, or by any political subdivision or authority therein having power to tax, if held at the time of death;
- (G) no *ad valorem* stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes are payable in Australia on the issue of any Notes or the transfer of any Notes;
- (H) neither the issue of the Notes nor the payment of principal and interest by the Issuer would give rise to a liability to goods and services tax in Australia;

- (I) section 12-140 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia ("TAA") imposes a type of withholding tax at the rate (currently) 48.5 per cent. on the payment of interest on certain registered securities unless the holder has quoted a tax file number ("TFN"), an Australian Business Number ("ABN") (if the holder has an ABN) or proof of some other exemption. Assuming the requirements of section 128F of the Tax Act are satisfied with respect to the Notes, then the requirements of section 12-140 do not apply to payments to a holder of Notes in registered form who is not a resident of Australia and not holding those Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. Payments to other classes of holders of Notes in registered form may be subject to a withholding where the holder of those Notes does not quote a TFN, ABN or provide proof of an appropriate exemption (as appropriate);
- (J) payments in respect of the Notes can be made free and clear of the "supply withholding tax" imposed under section 12-190 of Schedule 1 to the TAA; and
- (K) Division 974 of the Tax Act, which applies from 1 July 2001, contains tests for characterising debt (for all entities) and equity (for companies) for Australian tax purposes, including for the purposes of dividend withholding tax and IWT. The Issuer intends to issue Notes which are to be characterised as "debt interests" for the purposes of the tests contained in Division 974 and the returns paid on the Notes are to be "interest" for the purpose of section 128F of the Australian Tax Act. Accordingly, Division 974 is unlikely to affect the Australian tax treatment of holders of Notes.

## **Recent Developments**

## Additional withholdings from certain payments to non-residents

Section 12-315 of schedule 1 of the Taxation Administration Act (introduced by the Taxation Laws Amendment Act (No. 4) 2003) gives the Governor-General power to make regulations requiring withholding from certain payments to non-residents after 1 July 2003. The regulations that have been made to date do not relate to interest and other payments under the Notes. However, it is possible that further regulations may be made, so it is not possible to determine what types of payments would be caught by the new regulations nor the rate of withholding. However, section 12-315 expressly provides that the regulations will not apply to interest and other payments which are already subject to the current IWT rules or specifically exempt from those rules. Further, regulations may only be made if the responsible minister is satisfied the specified payments are of a kind that could reasonably relate to assessable income of foreign residents. The Issuer has been advised that it does not expect the regulations to apply to repayments of principal under the Notes, provided those Notes are not issued at a discount, as repayments of principal amounts will generally not be reasonably related to assessable income. The possible application of any regulations to the proceeds of any sale of the Notes will need to be monitored.

## Taxation of foreign exchange gains and losses

The New Business Tax System (Taxation of Financial Arrangements) Act (No. 1) 2003 contains new rules to deal with the taxation consequences of foreign exchange transactions entered into after 1 July 2003 (unless a taxpayer elects for them to apply to earlier transactions). The new rules are complex and apply to any Noteholders who are Australian residents or non-residents that hold Notes that are not denominated in Australian dollars in the course of carrying on business in Australia.

### Taxation of financial arrangements

On 16 December 2005 the Australian Minister for Revenue and Assistant Treasurer issued an exposure draft of proposed new rules for the "Taxation of Financial Arrangements". It is intended that the new rules (if enacted) would represent a new code for the taxation of receipts and payments in relation to financial arrangements. The exposure draft is incomplete in that, among other things, it does not specify the commencement date for the new rules, although the explanatory material released with the exposure draft says that the new rules will apply to financial arrangements acquired after the start date. Taxpayers may also be able to elect for the new rules to apply to all financial arrangements existing at the start date.

The exposure draft does not contain any indication as to how (if at all) the proposed rules are to relate to the imposition of interest withholding tax. However, the Government has given no indication that it intends the new rules to apply in a manner which overrides the section 128F exemption.

Comments on the draft are due by 1 March 2006 and it is expected that the Government will consult with taxpayers and industry representatives to develop the final legislation.

# **United Kingdom Taxation and EU Savings Directive**

# **Payment of interest on the Notes**

Payments of interest on the Notes may be made without withholding on account of United Kingdom income tax provided the payments of interest do not have an United Kingdom source.

However, Noteholders who are individuals may wish to note that HM Revenue and Customs has power to obtain information (including the name and address of the beneficial owner of the interest) from any person in the United Kingdom who either pays interest to or receives interest for the benefit of an individual. HM Revenue and Customs also has the power to obtain information from any person in the United Kingdom who pays amounts payable on the redemption of Notes which are deeply discounted securities for the purpose of the Income Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005 or receives such amounts for the benefit of an individual resident in the United Kingdom although HM Revenue and Customs published practice indicates that HM Revenue and Customs will not exercise its power to require this information where such amounts are paid on or before 5 April 2006. Information so obtained may, in certain circumstances, be exchanged by HM Revenue and Customs with the tax authorities of the jurisdiction in which the Noteholder is resident for tax purposes.

# **EU Savings Directive**

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have agreed to adopt similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland) with effect from the same date.

# Significant Differences Between Australian GAAP (AGAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The impact of transition from AGAAP to IFRS is based on IFRS standards that management expects to be in place, or where applicable, early adopted, when preparing the first complete IFRS financial report (being the half-year ending 28 February 2006). Only a complete set of financial statements and notes together with the comparative balances can provide a true and fair representation of the Bank's financial position, results and operations of cash flows in accordance with IFRS. Accordingly, further disclosure and explanations included in the first complete IFRS financial report will be required for a true and fair view to be presented under IFRS.

There is a significant amount of judgement involved in assessing the effect of adopting IFRS on the financial statements for financial reporting periods ending after 31 August 2005. For example, revisions to the selection and application of the IFRS accounting policies may be required as a result of:

- Changes in financial reporting requirements that are relevant to the Bank's and consolidated entity first complete IFRS financial report arising from new or revised accounting standards or interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board subsequent to the preparation of the 31 August 2006 financial report;
- Additional guidance on the application of IFRS in a particular industry or to a particular transaction; and
- Changes to the Bank's and consolidated entity's operations.

Consequently the reconciliations presented in the first financial report prepared in accordance with IFRS may vary materially from the information provided in this note. Where the application or interpretation of an accounting standard is currently being debated, the accounting policy adopted reflects management's current assessment of the likely outcome of those deliberations.

The significant differences arising from the adoption of the IFRS accounting standards from 1 September 2005 are summarised below. This summary should not be taken as an exhaustive list of all the differences between AGAAP and IFRS to take effect on 1 September 2005.

## (i) Consolidation of special purpose vehicles

The interpretation of the consolidation rules applicable to special purpose vehicles under IAS 27 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements' and UIG Interpretation 112 Consolidation — Special Purpose Vehicles differ under IFRS.

The Bank securitises mortgage loans as part of its funding and capital management strategy. Under AGAAP, the consolidated entity is considered not to control the securitisation vehicles and accordingly the assets and liabilities of these vehicles are not included in the statement of financial position. On transition to IFRS, the consolidated entity will be considered to control the securitisation vehicles resulting in their consolidation. At 31 August 2005, the consolidated entity's loans and liabilities will increase by \$2,536.0m with no change in consolidated profit for the comparative year under IFRS.

The Bank also securitises equipment finance receivables as part of its funding and capital management strategy. It is likely that the assets recognised in the REDS EHP Securitisation Trusts (equipment hire purchase) will not meet the derecognition requirements of IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' and will be required to be consolidated under IAS 27 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'. If such assets are required to be consolidated, at 31 August 2005, the consolidated entity's loans will increase by \$738.0m and liabilities by \$721.65m with no change in consolidated profit for the comparative year under IFRS.

## (ii) Financial instruments

Under IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' financial instruments are required to be classified under one of five available categories. Accounting treatment differs for each category. Some instruments currently carried at amortised cost will in future be carried at fair value, with fair value changes either charged to the Statement of Financial Performance or taken to equity, depending on their classification.

The future financial effect of this change is not yet known as the classification and measurement process has not yet been fully completed. However, the fair value adjustments could result in volatility to the Statement of Financial Performance and equity reserve balances.

## (iii) Hedge accounting

All derivative contracts are required to be recorded at fair value. When derivatives meet the new criteria for recognition as a hedge under IFRS, movement in fair value will be taken to the Statement of Financial Performance or an equity reserve. However, all hedges must be tested for effectiveness with any ineffectiveness taken to the Statement of Financial Performance.

Movements in fair values for derivatives not recognised as a hedge will be taken to the Statement of Financial Performance. It is expected that the majority of derivatives used by the Bank will meet the hedging criteria and we do not expect a material impact on the results of the consolidated entity.

## (iv) Debt versus equity classification

The Bank's preference shares are currently classified as equity under AGAAP with distributions taking the form of dividends. Under IAS 32 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation' these instruments will be classified as a financial liability and distributions treated as interest expense.

As at 31 August 2005, the Bank had \$121.1m of preference shares and had distributions of \$7.7m on these instruments during the 2005 financial year.

## (v) Loan impairment provisions

IFRS adopts an approach known as "incurred losses" for loan provisioning. Provisions are raised for losses that have already been incurred on loans that are known to be impaired.

The practice of recording specific provisions for loan impairment will continue under IFRS, however such provisions must be based on the discounted values of estimated future cash flows. The discount unwinds during the period between the initial recognition of the provision and the eventual recovery of the written down amount, resulting in the recognition of interest in the Statement of Financial Performance.

The Bank currently maintains a general provision for impairment under AGAAP which is based on probable losses and not on an event or loss that has been incurred.

Under IFRS, loans not identified as individually impaired, will be assessed for impairment on a collective basis. The size of any loss provision will be based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics adjusted for current data.

As a result on adoption of IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' there is likely to be a reduction in the amount in the Bank's overall provision for impairment with a corresponding increase in retained earnings.

## (vi) Loan establishment income and expenses

The Bank will change the way it currently recognises certain income and expense items under IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. Any fee income integral to the yield of an originated financial instrument, net of any direct incremental costs, must be deferred over the expected life of the instrument. This change on transition to IFRS is not expected to have a material impact on reported earnings, but it is expected there will be re-classifications between interest income and fee income.

## (vii) Share Based Payments

Under AGAAP, no expense is recognised for options or shares issued to employees.

Under IFRS, IFRS 2 'Share-based Payments' requires the fair value of options or shares granted must be recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of shares or options granted will be measured at grant date taking into account market performance conditions only and is spread over the vesting period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled. The fair value of options granted will be measured using an appropriate valuation model such as either the binomial or Black-Scholes valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions attached to the options. The amount recognised as an expense will be adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest except where forfeiture is due to market related conditions.

No adjustment will be made for options or shares granted before 7 November 2002 which have vested before 1 January 2005. Options granted after 7 November 2002 remaining unvested at 1 January 2005 will be recognised in the opening balance sheet through retained earnings.

For the financial year 31 August 2005, employee benefits expense and equity are expected to be further increased by \$2.9m for the consolidated entity (Bank: \$2.9m).

## (viii) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment will be measured at cost under IFRS. However, as permitted by the election under IFRS 1 'First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards', at transition date certain items of property, plant and equipment are expected to be recognised at deemed cost, being a revalued amount prior to transition date that approximates the fair value as at the date of transition.

Any asset revaluation reserve balances relating to these assets will be derecognised at transition date and adjusted against retained earnings.

On transition to IFRS, it is expected that for the consolidated entity retained earnings will increase by \$0.2m (Bank: \$0.2m) and the asset revaluation reserve will decrease by \$0.2m (Bank: \$0.2m).

On transition to IFRS, software assets are required to be reclassified from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. This is expected to result in a reclassification of \$80.1m in the consolidated entity and the Bank as at 31 August 2005.

### (ix) Intangible assets

Deferred expenditure associated with the set-up of the Bank's securitisation vehicles are classified as other assets under AGAAP. On transition to IFRS, these amounts will be reclassified to intangible assets.

This is expected to result in a reclassification of \$7.1m for the consolidated entity (Bank: \$2.0m) as at 31 August 2005.

There is no expected change in profit for the consolidated entity or Bank as a result of this reclassification.

# **Subscription and Sale**

# **Summary of Dealer Agreement**

Subject to the terms and the conditions contained in an Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement dated 22 December 2005 (as further amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the "Dealer Agreement") between the Issuer and the Dealers from time to time party thereto (the "Dealers"), the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Dealers. However, the Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers in accordance with the Dealer Agreement. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer.

# **Selling Restrictions**

## **United States**

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time and (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution, as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer or, in the case of an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis, the relevant lead manager of all Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and it will have sent to each Dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of paragraph and in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of the Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any Dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemptions from registrations under the Securities Act.

Each issue of Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes shall be subject to such additional U.S. selling restrictions as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer or Dealers shall agree as a term of the issue and purchase of such Notes, which additional selling restrictions shall be set out in the applicable Final Terms. Each relevant Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will offer, sell or deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

## European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

- (a) in (or in Germany, where the offer starts within) the period beginning on the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to those Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and ending on the date which is 12 months after the date of such publication;
- (b) at any time to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;
- (c) at any time to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than €43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turnover of more than €50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the Issuer of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

## **United Kingdom**

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (i) in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

## Australia

No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia) in relation to the Programme or any Notes has been or will be lodged with, or registered by, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission or the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and each Dealer has represented and agreed, and any further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that unless the applicable Final Terms provides otherwise, it:

- (a) has not made or invited, and will not make or invite, an offer of the Notes for issue, sale or purchase in Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia); and
- (b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish the Information Memorandum or any other offering material or advertisement relating to the Notes in Australia;

unless (i) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree is at least A\$500,000 or its equivalent in any other currency (disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia, (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a person who is a "retail client" within the

meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia; and (iii) such action complies with all applicable laws and regulations.

## Switzerland

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that any issue of Notes denominated in Swiss Francs will be in compliance with the guidelines of the Swiss National Bank regarding issues of Swiss Franc denominated debt securities.

## Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (i) in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) ("CO"), or (ii) to professional investors within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) ("SFO") and any rules made under the SFO, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a prospectus within the meaning of the CO; and
- (b) it has not issued, or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" within the meaning of the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

## Singapore

This Information Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of the Singapore Statutes (the "Securities and Futures Act"). Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree that the Notes may not be offered or sold or made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase nor may the Information Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of any Notes be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, to the public or any member of the public in Singapore other than (a) to an institutional investor or other person falling within Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, (b) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act or (c) otherwise than pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the Securities and Futures Act.

Each Dealer has further represented, warranted and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to further represent, warrant and agree to notify (whether through the distribution of this Information Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of any Notes or otherwise) and each Dealer hereby notifies each of the following relevant persons specified in Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act which has subscribed or purchased Notes from and through that Dealer, namely a person who is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary is an accredited investor,

that shares, debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for 6 months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes under Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act except:

- to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act or to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act, and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act;
- (2) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or
- (3) by operation of law.

## General

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Information Memorandum or any advertisement or other offering material and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have any responsibility therefor.

Neither the Issuer nor any of the Dealers represents that any Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with such other additional restrictions as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer shall agree and as shall be set out in the applicable Final Terms.

# **Form of Final Terms**

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme.

[Date]

## **Bank of Queensland Limited**

## Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the U.S.\$2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

# PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Information Memorandum dated 22 December 2005 which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the "Prospectus Directive"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Information Memorandum. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Information Memorandum. The Information Memorandum is available for viewing at, and copies may be obtained from, [address].

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Information Memorandum with an earlier date.]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Information Memorandum dated [original date]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the "Prospectus Directive") and must be read in conjunction with the Information Memorandum dated [*current date*] which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive, save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Information Memorandum dated [*original date*] and are attached hereto. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Information Memorandums dated [*current date*] and [*original date*]. Copies of such Information Memorandums are available for viewing at [*address*] [and] [*website*] and copies may be obtained from [*address*].

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[When adding any other final terms or information consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Information Memorandum under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination may need to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.]

1.	Issuer:	Bank of Queensland Limited
2.	(a) Series Number:	[ ]
	(b) Tranche Number:	[ ]
		(If fungible with an existing Series, details of that Series, including the date on which the Notes become fungible)
3.	Specified Currency or Currencies:	[ ]
4.	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	
	– (a) Series:	[ ]
	– (b) Tranche:	[ ]

5.	(a) [Issue Price:	[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued interest from [ <i>insert date</i> ] ( <i>in the case of fungible issues only, if applicable</i> )]
6.	Specified Denominations:	[ ] [ ]
		(N.B. If an issue of Notes is (i) NOT admitted to trading on an European Economic Area exchange; and (ii) only offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is not required to be published under the Prospectus Directive the €50,000 minimum denomination is not required.)
7.	(a) Issue Date:	[ ]
	(b) Interest Commencement Date:	[ ]
8.	Maturity Date:	[Fixed rate — specify date/ Floating rate — Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month]]
9.	Interest Basis:	<ul> <li>[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate]</li> <li>[[LIBOR/EURIBOR] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating Rate]</li> <li>[Zero Coupon]</li> <li>[Index Linked Interest]</li> <li>[Dual Currency Interest]</li> <li>[<i>specify other</i>]</li> <li>(further particulars specified below)</li> </ul>
10.	Redemption/Payment Basis:	[Redemption at par] [Index Linked Redemption] [Dual Currency Redemption] [Partly Paid] [Instalment] [ <i>specify other</i> ]
11.	Change of Interest Basis or Redemption/ Payment Basis:	[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into another Interest Basis or Redemption/ Payment Basis]
12.	Put/Call Options:	[Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [(further particulars specified below)]
13.	(a) Status of the Notes:	Senior
	(b) [Date [Board] approval for issuance of Notes obtained:	[ ] (N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular tranche of Notes)
14.	Method of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE		
15.	Fixed Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a) Rate(s) of Interest:	[ ] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/ semi-annually/quarterly] in arrear] (If payable other than annually, consider amending Condition 4)

- (b) Interest Payment Date(s):
- (c) Fixed Coupon Amount(s):
- (d) Broken Amount(s):
- (e) Day Count Fraction:
- (f) Determination Date(s):

- (g) Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:
- 16. Floating Rate Note Provisions
  - (a) Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:
  - (b) Business Day Convention:
  - (c) Additional Business Centre(s):
  - (d) Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:
  - (e) Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount (if not the Agent):
  - (f) Screen Rate Determination:
    - Reference Rate:
    - Interest Determination Date(s):
    - Relevant Screen Page:

[[ ] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date]/[specify other] (N.B. This will need to be amended in the case of long or short coupons)

[ ] per [ ] in nominal amount

[Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon Amount]

[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ISMA) or [specify other]]

[ ] in each year [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon N.B. This will need to be amended in the case of

regular interest payment dates which are not of equal duration N.B. Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ISMA)]

[None/Give details]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/[*specify other*]]

## [ ]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/ specify other]

[ ]

[ ] (Either LIBOR, EURIBOR or other, although additional information is required if other including fallback provisions in the Agency Agreement)

[ ]

(Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)

[ ] (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Telerate Page 248 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fallback provisions appropriately)

- (g) ISDA Determination:
  - Floating Rate Option:
  - Designated Maturity:
  - Reset Date:
- (h) Margin(s):
- (i) Minimum Rate of Interest:
- (j) Maximum Rate of Interest:
- (k) Day Count Fraction:

- Fallback provisions, rounding provisions and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in the Conditions:
- 17. Zero Coupon Note Provisions
  - (a) Accrual Yield:
  - (b) Reference Price:
  - (c) Any other formula/basis of determining amount payable:
  - (d) Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amounts and late payment:
- 18. Index Linked Interest Note Provisions
  - (a) Index/Formula:
  - (b) Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the interest due:
  - (c) Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:
  - (d) Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:
  - (e) Business Day Convention:
  - (f) Additional Business Centre(s):
  - (g) Minimum Rate of Interest:

- ] ſ ] ſ [ ] [+/-] [ ] per cent. per annum ] per cent. per annum ſ ſ ] per cent. per annum [Actual/365/Actual/Actual (ISDA) Actual/365 (Fixed) Actual/365 (Sterling) Actual/360 30/360
  - 30E/360 Other] (See Condition 4 for alternatives)
  - [ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- [ ] per cent. per annum
- [ ]
- [ ]

[Conditions 6(e) and 6(j) apply/specify other] (Consider applicable day count fraction if not U.S. dollar denominated)

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[give or annex details]

- [ ]
- [ ]
- [ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/specify other]

- [ ]
- [ ] per cent. per annum

- (h) Maximum Rate of Interest:
- (i) Day Count Fraction:
- 19. Dual Currency Note Provisions:
  - (a) Rate of Exchange/method of calculating Rate of Exchange:
  - (b) Calculation Agent, if any, responsible for calculating the interest payable:
  - (c) Provisions applicable where calculation by reference to Rate of Exchange impossible or impracticable:
  - (d) Person at whose option Specified Currency(ies) is/are payable:

## **PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION**

- 20. Issuer Call:
  - (a) Optional Redemption Date(s):
  - (b) Optional Redemption Amount of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
  - (c) If redeemable in part:
    - (i) Minimum Redemption Amount:
    - (ii) Maximum Redemption Amount:
  - (d) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):

- 21. Investor Put:
  - (a) Optional Redemption Date(s):
  - (b) Optional Redemption Amount of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
  - (c) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[give	details]
-------	----------

[	]
---	---

[	]
---	---

[ ]

ſ

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- ]
- [ ] per Note of [ ] Specified Denomination
- [ ] [ ]

1

[

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ ]

[ ] per Note of [ ] Specified Domination

## [ ]

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may

- 22. Final Redemption Amount of each Note:
- 23. Early Redemption Amount of each Note payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in Condition 6(e)):

## **GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES**

24. Form of Notes:

- 25. Additional Financial Centre(s) or other special provisions relating to Payment Days:
- 26. Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):
- 27. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:
- 28. Details relating to Instalment Notes:
  - (a) [Instalment Amount(s):
  - (b) [Instalment Date(s):
- 29. Redenomination applicable:

30. Other final terms:

## DISTRIBUTION

- 31. (a) If syndicated, names of Managers:
  - (b) Date of Subscription Agreement

apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[ ] per Note of [ ] Specified Denomination /specify other/see Appendix]

[ ]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event/at any time at the request of the Issuer]]

[Not Applicable/give details] (Note that this item relates to the place of payment and not Interest Period end dates to which items 17(c) and 19(f) relate)

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

[Not Applicable/give details. N.B. a new form of Temporary Global Note and/or Permanent Global Note may be required for Partly Paid issues]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

Redenomination [not] applicable [(*if Redenomination is applicable, specify the terms of the redenomination in an Annex to the Final Terms*)]

[Not Applicable/give details] [when adding any other final terms consideration should be given as to whether such terms constitute a "significant new factor" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Information Memorandum under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

[Not Applicable/give names]

[ ]

	(c) Stabilising Manager (if any):	[Not Applicable/give name]
32.	If non-syndicated, name of relevant Dealer:	[ ]
33.	Whether TEFRA D or TEFRA C rules applicable or TEFRA rules not applicable:	[ ]

34. Additional selling restrictions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

# [LISTING APPLICATION AND ADMISSION TO TRADING APPLICATION

This Final Terms comprises the final terms required to list and have admitted to trading the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Queensland Limited.]

## RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Final Terms.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By:....

Duly authorised

# PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

# LISTING

(i) Listing:	[London/other ( <i>specify</i> )/None]	
(ii) Admission to trading:	[Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [ ] with effect from [ ].] [Not Applicable.]	
(iii) Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:	[ ]	
RATINGS		
Ratings:	The Notes to be issued have been rated:	
	[S & P: [ ]] [Moody's: [ ]] [[Other]: [ ]]	
	(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)	

# [NOTIFICATION

The Financial Services Authority [has been requested to provide/has provided — *include first alternative for an issue which is contemporaneous with the establishment or update of the Programme and the second alternative for subsequent issues*] the [names of competent authorities of host Member States] with a certificate of approval attesting that the Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive.]

## INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. — *Amend as appropriate if there are other interests*]

## **REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES**

[(i) Reasons for the offer	[ ]	
	(See "Use of Proceeds" wording in Information Memorandum — if reasons for offer different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks will need to include those reasons here.)]	
[(ii)] Estimated net proceeds:	[ ]	
	(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need to split out and present in order of priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all proposed uses state amount and sources of other funding.)	
[(iii)] Estimated total expenses:	[ ]. [Include breakdown of expenses]	
	(N.B. If the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation applies (i) is required regardless of the minimum denomination of the securities and it is only necessary to include disclosure of net proceeds and total expenses at (ii) and (iii) above where disclosure is included at (i above.)	

# YIELD (FIXED RATE NOTES ONLY)

Indication of yield:

ſ

1

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.

# PERFORMANCE OF INDEX/FORMULA, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING (INDEX-LINKED NOTES ONLY)

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/formula can be obtained.]

[Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index and a description if composed by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to include details of where the information about the index can be obtained. Where the underlying is not an index need to include equivalent information.]

# PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT (Dual Currency Notes only)

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the relevant rates can be obtained.]

# **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

(i)	ISIN Code:	[	]
(ii)	Common Code:	[	]
(iii)	Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Appl	icable/give name(s) and number(s)]
(iv)	Delivery:	Delivery [	against/free of] payment
(v)	Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[	]

# **General Information**

1. The admission of Notes to the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount (excluding accrued interest). It is expected that each Tranche of Notes which is to be admitted to the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market will be admitted separately as and when issued, subject only to the issue of a Global Note or Notes initially representing the Notes of such Tranche. Application has been made to the UK Listing Authority for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Gilt Edged and Fixed Interest Market. The listing of the Programme in respect of Notes is expected to be granted on or before 30 December 2005.

The Dealer Agreement provides, that if the maintenance of the listing of any Notes has, in the opinion of the Issuer, become unduly onerous for any reason whatsoever, the Issuer shall be entitled to terminate such listing subject to its using its best endeavours promptly to list or admit to trading the Notes on an alternative stock exchange, within or outside the European Union, to be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

2. The Issuer has or will as soon as practicable obtain all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes. The issue of Notes under the Programme was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 26 September 1997, 21 November 1997, 15 December 2000, 13 December 2001, 22 November 2002, 19 November 2004 and 18 November 2005.

3. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 August 2005 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Group since the same date.

4. Neither the Issuer nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the Issuer and/or the Group's financial position or profitability.

5. Each Note, Coupon, Receipt and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".

6. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear. The Common Code and the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) for each Tranche of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system, the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg and the address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels.

7. For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Information Memorandum, the following documents will when published, be available, during usual business hours on any day (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer and the office of the Agent:

- (i) the Agency Agreement (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the Definitive Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons), including any supplements thereto;
- (ii) the Dealer Agreement, including any supplements thereto;
- (iii) the Deed of Covenant;
- (iv) the memorandum and articles of association and certificate of registration of the Issuer;
- (v) the published annual report and audited financial statements of the Issuer for the last two financial years and the most recently published interim accounts;
- (vi) each Final Terms for Notes that are admitted to the Official List and to trading by the London Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange (save that a Final Terms relating to a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be

published under the Prospectus Directive will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent as to the identity of such holder);

- (vii) a copy of this Information Memorandum together with any supplement to this Information Memorandum or further Information Memorandum; and
- (viii) a copy of the subscription agreement for Notes issued on a syndicated basis that are admitted to the Official List and to trading by the London Stock Exchange.

8. Copies of the latest annual consolidated accounts of the Issuer and the latest interim consolidated accounts of the Issuer may be obtained, and copies of the Agency Agreement will be available for inspection, at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding.

9. KPMG, Chartered Accountants, have audited in compliance with Australian auditing standards, and rendered unqualified reports on, the accounts of the Issuer for each of the last three years ended 31 August 2005.

10. No Australian approvals are currently required for or in connection with the issue of the Notes by the Issuer or for or in connection with the performance and enforceability of such Notes, Coupons, Receipts or Talons (if any). However:

- (a) the specific approval of the Reserve Bank of Australia must be obtained in connection with certain payments and transactions having a prescribed connection with certain countries or named individuals, or entities (including individuals, or entities subject to United Nations sanctions or associated with terrorism) designated from time to time for the purposes of the Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations and other regulations in Australia; and
- (b) it is an offence to hold and use or deal with, allow to be used or dealt with, or facilitate the use or dealing with of certain assets or to directly or indirectly make an asset available to certain named persons or entities associated with terrorism, pursuant to the Charter of the United Nations Act 1945 and the Charter of the United Nations (Terrorism and Dealings with Assets) Regulations 2002, unless the Minister for Foreign Affairs has given a written notice to permit such to occur.

11. Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required, from 1 July 2005, to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria will instead be required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have agreed to adopt similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland) with effect from the same date.

12. The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any issues of Notes.

## **REGISTERED AND HEAD OFFICE OF THE ISSUER**

Level 17, BOQ Center 259 Queen Street Brisbane 4000 Queensland

## ARRANGER

### **UBS** Limited

1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP

### DEALERS

## ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

250 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AA

## **Barclays Bank**

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB

### Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Street London EC2N 2DB

## J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd.

125 London Wall London EC2Y 5AJ

## **HSBC Bank plc**

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

## **Macquarie Bank Limited**

ABN 46 008 583 542 No. 1 Martin Place Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

## **UBS** Limited

1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP

# Nomura International plc

Nomura House 1 St. Martin's-le-Grand London EC1A 4NP

#### Westpac Banking Corporation, Singapore

77 Robinson Road SIA Building#19-00 Singapore 068896

## AGENT

### Citibank, N.A.

5 Carmelite Street London EC4Y 0PA

## **PAYING AGENT**

## Citibank Global Markets Deutschland AG & Co. KGaA

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany

## AUDITORS To the Issuer

## **KPMG, Chartered Accountants**

Level 30 Central Plaza One 345 Queen Street Brisbane 4000 Queensland

## LEGAL ADVISERS To the Issuer

### **Clayton Utz**

Level 26 215 Adelaide Street Brisbane 4000 Queensland

### **To the Dealers**

in respect of Australian law

## **Mallesons Stephen Jaques**

Level 30 Waterfront Place 1 Eagle Street Brisbane 4000 Queensland in respect of English law

# Allen & Overy

9th Floor Three Exchange Square Central Hong Kong